

Management and Business Administration Doctoral School

RÉSUMÉ OF THE PH.D. THESIS

Nóra Ágota Felföldi-Szűcs

Lending in case of defaulting customer

The credit decision of the bank and the supplier

Ph.D. dissertation

Supervisors:

Júlia Király, Ph. D. honorary professor

Péter Csóka, Ph. D. associate professor

Budapest, 2011

Department of Finance

RÉSUMÉ OF THE PH.D. THESIS

Nóra Ágota Felföldi-Szűcs

Lending in case of defaulting customer

The credit decision of the bank and the supplier

Ph.D. dissertation

Supervisors:

Júlia Király, Ph. D. honorary professor

Péter Csóka, Ph. D. associate professor

© Nóra Ágota Felföldi-Szűcs

Contents

Contents	3
1. Research preludes and the justification of the topic	4
2. Methodology	10
3. The results of the dissertation	12
3.1. A survey on joint liability lending	13
3.2. The bank financing of the neighbor members of the supply chain	13
3.3. The analysis of a trade credit portfolio	15
3.3.1. The patterns of the paying habits	16
3.3.2. Factors affecting the paying habits of self-employed entrepreneurs	16
3.3.3. Modeling of the customer's non-payment	16
4. Main references	18
5. List of publications	27

1. Research preludes and the justification of the topic

The main thought of my thesis is relatively wide circle of financial problems which are due to the non-paying customer. The topic connected to non-paying customers appears in more dimensions from the additional credit rationing the supplier has to face to the analysis of a concrete customer portfolio.

The credit rationing is a central element in my thesis, so as a first step I give a short definition for the term. When firms apply for external financing there is informational asymmetry amongst the parties, what gives wide room for moral hazard. The answer of the financers to this situation is credit rationing. Some of the clients will have a smaller loan, than it is requested at the given level of interest, or not every client who is capable for paying back the loan will be financed. If the value creating projects with positive net present value can not be realized because of the lack of financing, then we are facing with a harmful situation at the social level, therefore it is economically reasonable to ease this problem.

The structure of the dissertation is justified by an association connected to credit rationing. The first part of the association leads us to the countries of the distant Third World to the poorest of the poor.

Due to micro-lending, and especially due to the innovation of group lending the "unbankable" layer become financeable, moreover the maintenance of the lending institutes, the MFI's is imaginable in the long run.

The second part of the association, that however the national micro and small- and mediumsize enterprises (SME) could function as the engine of economic growth, the SME's of our region are suffering from sub-capitalization, and the lack of financing. It can be said that next to the known bank constructions more firms would like to get a loan, than the amount who receives the loan. Thus the suspicion arises, that the sector faces credit rationing. The relationship of bank financing and credit rationing is already determined by the literature that's why I have stepped forward with one thought in theoretical modeling. The other practical problem of the SME's is – not only in Hungary- the chain debt and overdue customers. By combining the two information I have examined how the non-paying customers increase the already existing credit rationing in SME financing. Combining the two parts of my association I am looking for the answer whether the credit rationing caused by the non-paying customer can be resolved by one of the frequent elements of group-lending, by joint liability.

Accordingly the preludes of the three main parts of the thesis can be deducted to very different topics within the field of finance and economics. The first part about microlending is based on group lending, within this joint liability.

The thicker and thicker literature doesn't spend too much time by defining the term microfinance. However the definition varies from author to author. According to Ledgerwood (2000): *"The term (sic. Microfinance) refers to provision of financial services to low-income clients..*" (Ledgerwood, 2000:1.p.) Armanderiz de Aghion and Morduch (2005) in their definition specifically point out the lack of the collateral and the owned resources: The microfinance is a collection of banking practices built around providing small loans (typically without collateral) and accepting tiny savings deposits". (Armanderiz de Aghion and Morduch, 2005: 1. p.)

For group lending there is no evident definition, it is frequently mixed – mainly by the authors of the critique works – with joint liability. The palette is colorful, depending on which constructions are named as group loans. It can refer to individual constructions, where the debtors pay their actual payments on common meetings, trainings in front of each other or even to the most strictly judged loans with joint liability. A frequent element of these constructions is the conditional loan renewal and the sequential lending.

The literature can be structured by the market failures occurring in lending situations, because each of the authors think that the key of the success of the group loans is that they can successfully treat or decrease at least one of the problems, like adverse selection, high monitoring costs, moral hazard, high audit costs, lack of enforcement.

A new trend in the theoretical literature are the multi period models of group lending. The authors focus on two central questions. First, what are the necessary elements of group loans which lead to the success of joint liability constructions? Second, which constructions without joint liability are able to incite the borrowers and reach the payback ratios of joint liability contracts. To answer these two different questions one will use the same construction elements (sequential lending and contingent renewal) which has to contribute also to the sustainability of the program.

The main conclusion of the previous literature is that the group and the individual loans are constructions following each other, they are suitable for serving different segments of the market. Initial capital gathering – the creation of what later becomes the physical collateral –

is provided for the clients – who, when they possess enough capital, can apply for individual loans – only by group loans. Joint liability, what is an important element of the group loans can be replaced by dynamic incentives in many cases. These can be for instance the sequential lending and the conditional credit renewal.

It is questionable whether the credit rationing decreasing effect of joint liability counterbalances the connected very high expenses, namely the extra weights caused by the non-paying partners.

In the second part while keeping an eye on this opened question, I have modeled the external financing of two neighbor members of a supply chain, namely the financing of a supplier and his or her customer.

The modeling happens in a contract-theoretical framework, where I have improved the basemodel of Tirole (2005) from his book: The Theory of Corporate Finance. Tirole describes a version for one contractor how the informational asymmetry between the financer and the borrower can lead to credit rationing. But also other works of theoretical literature on corporate loan contracts are available, for instance papers of Fudenberg and Tirole (1990), Rajan (1992), Hart and Moore (1998), Holmström and Tirole (2000). The modeling of the trade credit can be primarily connected to the name of Schwartz (1974) and Myers (1977).

The application of joint liability amongst firms can be questionable, that is why Philip Bond's (2004) extended joint liability is a central element of the thesis. The idea used for modeling is that I am applying joint liability for a not typical micro-financing situation, for the two neighboring members of a supply chain.

But there are many essential differences between the microloans and the markets of SMEfinancing. The local SMEs have a legal personality, they are originally connected to a looser social network, and it differs from the natural person's connections. SMEs, which can allow, are likely to choose legal forms with limited liability. Then the firms's bankruptcy fully differs from that which is affecting the owner as a private person. Namely the owner's pay-off function is convex: it's loss is limited, on the other hand it's profit is only limited by the efficiency of the company. The essential difference between the two target-groups is important, because the profit maximalization of a natural person can differ from a company's profit orientation.

A possible solution of the above described problem can be found in Philip Bond's (2004) paper where he extends the concept of joint liability. Bond examines the joint liability of the clients of a financial intermediary. Because the receivers of individual loans will only get future loans, if the financing institute remains on its feet, what depends on the repayment of

the other individual borrowers, in total amongst the affected borrowers a general joint liability can be seen.

In the third part of the thesis I am examining the paying habits of a customer portfolio, and I am identifying the factors influencing non-payment, and forecasting non-payment in advance. The non-payment of the supplier payable is an event with a lower consequence than the omissions towards the bank and as a result this event is a less severe credit risk event. Although the lower severity I have mainly based my thoughts on the authors of the topic of credit risk.

First let us define the term credit risk. According to the guideline published by HFSA (Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority) and based on the recommendations of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision:

"Credit risk: in the narrow sense it is the risk that the other contractual party will not be able to meet its obligations (arising from a loan, a deferred payment arrangement or any other credit-like legal relation) in accordance with agreed terms, potentially causing the financial institution to incur a loss. In the broad sense, any risk arising from non-fulfillment is considered credit risk, including risks arising from the non-fulfillment of sales contracts (settlement risk, open account trade risk) and from the future fulfillment of sales contracts (replacement risk)." (Source: HFSA, 2001)

Theoretical studies agree with the above definition, yet delve into a more detailed account of it. For a more detailed credit risk definition see Jorion, 1999; McNeil, Frey and Embrechts, 2005; Crouhy, Galai and Mark, 2005.

The literature of credit and default risk modeling is rather abundant. Thus, first of all, I will try to systematize the literature I read, without going into details about the specific models. The authors used the following aspects to classify the models:

- Historical / chronological order (e.g. Carling, Jacobson, Linde and Roszbach, 2007)
- Individual vs. portfolio models
- The size of the company to be examined (e.g. Falkenstein, Boral, Carty, 2000). This is equivalent to a classification by lending techniques (*transaction banking*, *relationship banking*). (E.g. Allen, DeLong and Saunders, 2004.)
- Classification by content, where models might be used for analytical, measurement / risk management or pricing purposes (e.g. Altman, Saunders, 1997 or partly McNeil, Frey and Embrechts, 2005)
- The methodology used

• The type of the data used (market vs. accounting; exogenous vs. endogenous).

These individual classification criteria can be combined and matched with or complemented by each other. In the below description, each model is going to be categorized by each abovementioned aspect.

The methodology used in the dissertation is based on early works from a historical aspect, further on I will mainly apply logistic regression where the input data is provided by accounting information for the forecasting of the individual bankruptcy of small firms. With this choice, I have chosen a very narrow portion of the literature of credit-risk.

The accounting-based models are based on the financial ratios made from financial reports of the firms, where they group the examined firms into two groups depending on the value of the financial ratios; these are the bankrupt and the non-bankrupt firms. (Virág, 2004)

Beaver in his article published in 1966 is separating his sample based on one single variable to bankrupt/non-bankrupt groups, in his study when looking for the most suitable indicator he is examining 30 different financial ratios. The multivariate discriminant analysis (MDA) was used by Altman to create his first model in 1968 and also for the famous ZETA-model. In the first case Altman is forming a linear bankruptcy-function from his sample containing mid-sized firms. In the **ZETA-model**, by taking into account this tendency, that there is often a bankruptcy proceeding against many large firms, accordingly he expands the composition of the sample: the model examines 58 surviving and 53 bankrupt companies. (Virág, 2004)

The strongest critique of the model, that the classification power within the sample is suitable, however when they are making an ex-ante prediction for a different sample with it, the quality of classification decreases at least by 10%. The cause of this phenomenon is the temporal instability of the data and the difference between the certain industries. So it could be more effective to use the relative ratios where the financial ratio of the firm is compared to the industrial average, as suggested by the Platt-Platt author-duo (Platt-Platt, 1990). But the method of MDA still provides some more doubtful element (assumption of normality) which can be easily handled by the logistic regression the more widespread methodology in this topic.

The central question of the works specially focusing on SMEs – which are also working with the logistic regression most frequently – is the circle of the information used for modeling. Most of the authors vote for the combination of financial and non-financial (often called qualitative) information. Based on the models estimated specifically for the SME clients it seems, that in their case the discriminative power of the non-financial indicators are high.

Altman, Sabato and Wilson (2010) were probably the first to apply non-financial indicators. For the period between 2000-2008 they could work based on 5.8 million observations from the United Kingdom. They have found that the model's discriminative power was increased by 8-10%, if next to the used, limitedly provided financial indicators they have taken in non-financial information as well. Lehman (2003) has carried out researches on 20.000 German SME's. From a bank's aspect besides the traditional financial indicators some information on behavioral aspects can help in the separation of the good and the bad clients. Lehman's (2003) conclusion is similar to that of Altman's and his authors-partners. Although the introduced, non-financial variables by themselves are not more significant than the financial ratios, their entry to the model is improving the model's discriminative power.

The history of the national bankruptcy models compared to the international literature is relatively new - the regulation of the bankruptcy procedure and of disposal was born in 1991, thus the topic as an area of research only exists since then. The first bankruptcy model is related to the name of Miklós Virág and Ottó Hajdú (1996), who had analyzed the insolvency of the firm on a sample from the processing industry of 154 elements, relying on the reports from 1990-91. The also innovative work of the cited authors is the bankruptcy model-family made for the Hungarian national-economy branches and sub-branches (Virág, 1996). The chosen methodology was the discriminant analysis, and there was an even internationally significant sample provided for the researches with 10.000 elements. The result of modeling is a model for the whole national economy, 10 models for the national-economy branches and 30 models for the sub-branches. Earlier I have cited, that according to the recommendation of Platt-Platt (1990) it worth's to apply relative financial ratios compared to the industrial average, principally on a sample what is heterogeneous from the aspect of the industrial classification. Virág and Kristóf (2006) have also used this result and on their sample with 156 elements, which was built on the earlier cited sample of 154 companies, they have used discriminant analysis, logistic regression, recursive partitioning algorithm and neural network to work out their model.

By looking at the work of Virág and Kristóf from 2006, we can see that the Hungarian literature does not confine itself to the traditional models like the discriminant analysis and the logistic regression either. The application of the neural networks after the work of Benedek (2000) appeared in the writing of Virág and Kirstóf (2005) and in Kristóf's (2008) dissertation. Imre (2008) in his PhD dissertation also bases his calculations on the methodology of accounting based bankruptcy models. The reader who is interested in the further details can read more on this topic in the writings of Virág and Kristóf. Naturally the

circle of the applied methods is wider, than I have written in the previous paragraphs. Nowadays for instance the new method in the field of the national bankruptcy forecasting the multi-dimensional scaling is related to the name of Virág and Kristóf (2009).

2. Methodology

The literature summed up in the first part of the dissertation and also the modeling of the second chapter are examining the particular topics in a contract-theoretical framework. I am working with a more colorful methodology in the third part of the dissertation.

The methodology applied in this chapter can be found in details in more Hungarian sources. In the work of Füstös et al. (2004) many examples from real researches help the understanding of the theoretical approach, Sajtos and Mitev (2007) help the reader in the practical application, and give advices to solve the appearing methodological dilemmas, Kovács (2006) in his short theoretical review makes the steps of understanding and application easier.

The trade credit database consists of a customer portfolio (1398 items) of a real-life company. The supplier is trading in construction materials. Besides the open receivables from all the 1400 customers of the company, a record of overdue amounts and an aged balance of accounts receivable was also provided. These being stock variables, the figures relate to one specific day in May 2009. The records, however, also show all open and overdue accounts from one week earlier, as well. In addition to the agreed credit limit, information (partly of a qualitative nature) on the customer, its manager and its payment history also appear in the database. For 905 customers also the financial reports are available.

The paying patterns of the portfolio were determined by K-mean clustering. A disadvantage of this method is that the number of clusters is to be given by the researcher in advance. This firstly I have called the hierarchical agglomerative models to provide some input to the decision. The simple linkage, the method of the closest neighbor is usually applied to help in the identification of outliers because it tends to create clusters with a small amount of units and a couple of larger clusters. Sajtos and Mitev (2007) recommend the Ward-method in order to determine the amount of units of the cluster. The related SPSS outputs (the illustration of the dendograms and the coefficients) helped to determine the amount of the clusters between 8-12. Finally I decided to create 12 clusters.

I analyzed weather the non-payment in Subsample I created by self-employed entrepreneurs is related to any of the available non-financial variables of these customers. For the used methodology, contingency table analysis and Chi-square test, see Hunyadi László and Vita László (2002), Kovács Erzsébet (2006) or Sajtos László and Mitev Ariel (2007).

In the Subsample II where the financial reports of the customers were also available I forecasted the non-payment using logistic regression. This methodology came from the area of credit risk modeling, more especially of bankruptcy models. During the modeling I had to face two special issues. First, I was dealing with SMEs and not with corporate. Second, I was modeling the non-payment to suppliers instead of more severe credit risk events like default on a bank loan or even bankruptcy itself.

The works expressly concentrating on SME clients do not spend much time on the question: which accounting based model shall be used. The most spread procedure is thought to be logistic regression (Atiya, 2001; Laitinen and Laitinen, 2000), and most of the authors are doing their own estimations with the help of logistic regression (for instance Altman and Sabato, 2007; Falkenstein, Boral and Carty, 2000). Thus I am going to use this method in the dissertation.

The other even more thick part of the literature of modeling SME's credit risk events is not concerning methodology, but the financial indicators used as independent variables in the scoring models. Theoretical works on the variables with appropriate discriminant force are very rare. Laitinen and Laitinen (2000) refer to relatively earlier writings in this topic (Aziz, Emanuel and Lawson, 1988; Scott, 1981; Keasey and Watson, 1987), but according to their critique the recommendations are too general and simplifying for providing real help for modeling.

The empirical examinations choose the appropriate variables based on earlier publications or by factor analysis. Another possibility is the backward and forward method. The backward method firstly builds in all of the available variables to the model, and then drops out the insignificant indicators, one by one. The forward method is building in the variables one by one to the model, till the variable built in as last won't already improve the model's explanatory power. Relying on the literature (Altman-Sabato, 2007; Falkenstein, 2000; partially Kristóf, 2008a-b) I have used the Forward Stepwise Likelihood Ratio algorithm at every model variation with 5% entry and 10% exit significance level. I have divided the sample to training and test sample, also duly to the literature in a proportion of 75% and 25% (for instance Imre, 2008).

The second specialty of the models is - as I have already mentioned - the dependent variable, the non-payment to the supplier. This credit risk event is partially depending also on paying willingness and not only on paying ability like the default on a bank loan. In the analyzed case

the financial ratios of well performing and non-paying customers differs less than in a database built for defaults on bank obligations. As a result of this specialty the classification power of the elaborated models is lower than the generally accepted level in the literature. But this phenomenon is not unique. Imre (2008) modeled the default defined according to Basel II (which defines a defaulted borrower as anyone who is more than 90 days behind with their payments). His findings regarding the classification power of his models correspond with my results.

The classification power of the models was measured by AUC (area under the curve). To define this measure one has to be familiar with the term cutoff ad ROC curve.

The cutoff means the threshold, where if the estimated non-paying probability is lower than the cutoff value for the examined client the model is forecasting the precise payment in advance, but if the estimated non-paying probability is higher than the cutoff value, then the model classifies the specific client as a non-payer.

The selection of the cutoff value happens in a very different way by the authors. The most widespread decision tool in the current literature is the cutoff given by the largest AUC (area under the curve) value. The dissertation is going to follow this latest aspect.

The ROC curve is a graphical plot of the true positive rate, versus the false positive rate as the cut-off threshold varies. The classification ability of a random model is described by a straight line (45 degrees), the model resulting in a perfect classification is characterized by a line osculating with the point of (0, 1) coordinates. The estimated models are between these two endpoints, as further their ROC curve lies from the diagonal, the examined model is classifying better. This aspect is quantified by the AUC or the AUROC indicators, what describes the size of the area under the ROC. Arising from the earliers in case of random classification the AUC is 0.5 while a perfectly classifying model, results in an AUC with a value of 1. In practice the AUC with the value of 0.7 is already suitable. (Oravecz, 2008; Imre, 2008; Tang-Chi, 2005).

3. The results of the dissertation

On the following pages I introduce the main results of the thesis.

3.1. A survey on joint liability lending

The first part of the dissertation is innovative from the aspect that it is providing in Hungarian a detailed survey of the theoretical and the empirical literature of group lending.

3.2. The bank financing of the neighbor members of the supply chain

Based on Jean Tirole's (2006) model, in the second part of the dissertation I have built my own model for the bank financing of two neighbor members in a supply chain, where the trade credit provided by the supplier to the customer is exposed to default risk. In the contract-theoretical framework there is an informational asymmetry between the bank and the contractors regarding the efforts done for the success of the project, what gives room for moral hazard.

In the model the bank decides whether to provide the loan or not at the beginning, in the first period the customer can face with a liquidity shock, and as a result of this he/she might not be able to pay the actual supplier payable, and in the second period the payment of the bank loans are due.

The main assumptions of the model:

- The actors are risk-neutral; they make their decisions based on expected value.
- The bank faces with a perfect competition at its own market, thus its expected profit is zero.
- The actors do not have preferences regarding the timing of his/her clash flow.
- The expected net present value of the project (NPV) is only positive in case if the contractors' efforts are higher, in other cases, even if the profit from shirking is taken into account, it is negative.

Three main model variations were made:

• In the first model variation the non-paying customer is liquidated by his/her supplier and by the bank.

- In the second model variation, if necessary, the bank is providing a liquidity loan at the end of the first period, what is used by customer to pay off his/her supplier.
- In the third model variation, if necessary, the bank is giving a liquidity loan at the end of the first period, for which both the customer and the supplier are going to be jointly responsible. The customer is going to be responsible for the supplier's original debt, received in period 0 to the same extent.

I have evaluated the model variations from the following aspects: the borrowing capacity of the contractors, the utility measured by the expected NPV, the continuation rule of the bank and from the aspect of the expected NPV, what is measuring social utility. The main results of the comparison are:

- I have concluded that in case of a non-paying customer in the first model variation the supplier's and evidently the customer's **borrowing capacity** is decreasing, compared to the case, where the customer always pays promptly. However in the second model variation regarding the supplier the non-paying customer does not have such a credit rationing increasing effect, only the customer will receive less financing. This second model, the continuation next to the individual liability of the customer is providing a larger loan for the two contractors altogether, than the third model, the joint liability. Joint liability can only provide a higher financing, than the first variation, where the non-paying partners are liquidated.
- The **utility** of the two **contractors** are measured by the expected owner's NPV. It is not surprising that the supplier prefers, when he/she does not have to take responsibility for the continuation, instead the risk of continuation are taken by the bank and by the customer. In case of the customer however the case is reversed, he/she prefers joint liability since the weights of the continuation are partially put on the supplier at this time. If we suppose the possibility of compensation amongst the two contractors, then by examining their expected owner NPV together the construction of joint liability is only the second most advantageous construction.
- Social welfare is measured by the expected NPV of the projects. The distribution of the responsibility is only redistributing the utility between the contracting parties; it does not affect social welfare.
- If the bank prefers joint liability, then despite of what I described above, the two firms can be forced to choose a form of financing, what is suboptimal for them. However at the market with perfect competition by examining the **bank's** profit maximizing

decision rule, the expected net pledgeable income maximalization, I also had to throw this option away. Although the bank receives double collateral for the additionally provided loan, and for one portion of the loan already processed in the period 0 to the supplier, it is also destroying the motivation of the two contractors. This has to be compensated, that is why the bank's absolute value of the bank's pledged income cannot exceed the pledgeable income of the individual continuation.

To sum up the results of modeling: the extended joint liability existing between the customer and his/her supplier - in a Bondian (2004) sense - is not suitable for decreasing the credit rationing as a special collateral.

Some of the authors claim that with group-lending the liability taken for others means an excessive expense; we can make a similar conclusion regarding the two neighbor members of the supply chain. This conclusion is also interesting, because the alternatives are not the same in the two cases. Instead of the group loans at the individual loans there is no relation between the clients, who are financed by the same MFI. In case of the individual lending of the customer and the supplier the dependence between the two contractors, the credit risk connected to the trade credit still exists. His/her extra weights will not disappear, since they appear in the additional credit rationing.

By examining the different variations of the models of joint liability, I have found that the conclusions are robust. It worth's to highlight the model variation, which describes **factoring** from this examination. By comparing factoring and the continuation with individual liability, even though factoring does not decrease credit rationing, but it will provide the bank a higher expected profit, that is why next to factoring the bank will determine a less strict continuation rule, than in the regular continuation model. It can be imagined, that the two contractors in order to assure a better continuation rule for themselves ex ante, they have to decrease the size of the project and choose the construction with factoring.

3.3. The analysis of a trade credit portfolio

In the third part in order to analyze the customer portfolio consisting of SME clients I provide a survey on the main credit risk models and on the methodological literature. This chapter mainly concentrates on the methodology applied to SME clients. I take as one result of the thesis the classification of the models by different aspects (alloying), and the introduction of the literature by more dimensions. The data-analysis results of the empirical chapter are important and valuable parts of the dissertations, because amongst the academic works it is rare that a whole customer portfolio is provided for the researcher. (Even though amongst the practitioners this task is not unique at all.) The analysis has consisted of three parts.

3.3.1. The patterns of the paying habits

Firstly I have identified the patterns of the customer portfolio using cluster analysis based on the variables describing the structure of the customer receivables. The k-mean clustering has created 12 clusters altogether. The clusters of the GOODS (composed of two clusters - they are not delayed), the BADS (composed of two clusters - they are late over 180 days) and the group of the PROMPT PAYERS were separated from each other evidently.

The seven intermediary clusters - somewhat arbitrarily - were classified into the groups of the DELAYERS and the NON-PAYERS according to the typical expiration structure. We can find clusters containing small, mid-sized and larger firm, where the behavioral variables can show differences. Overall the non-cluster forming criteria, mainly the non-financial criteria significantly differ amongst the formed clusters.

3.3.2. Factors affecting the paying habits of selfemployed entrepreneurs

As a second step I have worked on the I. sub-sample derived from the examined customerportfolio, which has contained self-employed entrepreneurs.

According to cross-chart analysis the gender does not influence the paying habits at all, on the other hand, the violation of the provided credit-line, a negative record in the paying history of the firm and the paying habits show a significant relationship with the paying pattern.

The result is in accordance with the claims of the bankruptcy models and with the claims of the literature of scoring and credit-risk models, according to which the non-financial, perhaps the qualitative information are usually, but especially with the decrease of the firm size important inputs of the lending decision.

3.3.3. Modeling of the customer's non-payment

As a third step of the empirical analysis I have used the methodology of the bankruptcy models for the modeling of the customer non-payment. I have estimated logistic regression

models using different inputs, where instead of bankruptcy payables more than 90 days past due were identified as defaulted exposures. This definition is referring to the II. Basel regulation, where the delay over 90 days on obligations toward the financial institute means the default event.

- Based on the modeling I have illustrated, like Lehman (2003) and Altman, Wilson and Sabato (2010) that the building in of the non-financial information to the model has improved the classification accuracy in every case. I measured this improvement by AUC, which is an indicator used by the current literature. The AUC increased with 0.04-0.09.
- It is widespread in the literature that the inputs of the logit-model are identified with factor-analysis, and the classification accuracy of the models estimated this way is higher, than that of their counterparts building on individual indicators. The estimated models in case of the training samples did not support this hypothesis; on the other hand the models built on principal component-analysis were doing better on the test-sample, than the models of the individual indicators.
- Mainly the non-financial indicators describing behavior are classifying so successfully by themselves, that they have overperformed the model only using financial indicators from this aspect.

This latter result justifies and supports the practice of the firm, which has provided the data for me, according to which the determination of the credit line for trade credit is mainly based on information like the credit history of the managers of the firm, the delays towards a third party, paying habits. The results of the empirical analysis suggest that the claim management firm could improve the decision mechanism, if it would gather even more behavioral information on the customers, what is suggested by the literature too. For instance these can be the age of the customer relationship, the number of the employees, the education of the managers, the experience of the managers measured in years in the industry, the standard deviation of the balance of the debts, the industry and the industrial average bankruptcy rate. The examination of the classification power of this information would be also an additional research question.

4. Main references

Ahlin, C. and Townsend, R. [2003]: Using Repayment Data to Test Across Models of Joint Liability Lending. University of Chicago Working Paper.

Ahlin, C. and Townsend, R. [2007]: Selection into and across credit contracts: Theory and field research. Journal of Econometrics Vol. 136 No. 2, pp. 665-698.

Akerlof, G. A. [1970]: The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainity and the Market Mechanism. Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. 84, no.3. pp 488-500.

Allen, L., DeLong, G. and Saunders, A. [2004]: Issuies in the credit risk modelling of retail markets. Journal of Banking and Finance, Vol. 28. No. 4. pp. 727-752.

Altman, E. I. [1968]: Financial Ratios, Discriminant Analysis and the Prediction of Corporate Bankruptcy. Journal of Finance, Vol. 23. No. 4. pp. 589-609.

Altman, E.I. [1989]: Measuring corporate bond mortality and performance. Journal of Finance, Vol. 44. No. 4. pp. 909-922.

Altman, E.I. and Sabato, G. [2007]: Modelling Credit Risk for SMEs: Evidence from the U.S. Market. Abacus Vol. 43. No. 3. pp. 332–357.

Altman, E. I., Sabato, G. and Wilson, N. [2010]: The Value of Non-Financial Information in SME Risk Management. Journal of Credit Risk, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 5-25.

Altman, E. I. and Saunders, A. [1997]: Credit risk measurement: Developments over the last 20 years. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 21 No. 11-12. pp. 1721-1742.

Arch, G. [2005]: Microfinance and development: Risk and return from a policy outcome perspective. Journal of Banking Regulation, vol. 6, No. 3.

Armendariz de Aghion, B. and Gollier, C. [2000]: Peer Group Formation in an Adverse Selection Model. The Economic Journal, Vol. 110, No. 465. pp. 632-643.

Armendariz de Aghion, B. and Morduch, J. [2000]: Microfinance Beyond Group Lending. <u>Economics of Transition</u>, Vol- 8, No. 2, pp. 401-420

Armanderiz de Aghion, B. and Morduch, J. [2005]: The Economics of Microfinance. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, p. 352

Aubert, C., Janvry, A. and Sadoulet, E. [2009]: Designing credit agent incentives to prevent mission drift in pro-poor microfinance institutions. Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 90, No. 1, pp. 153-162.

Atiya, A.F. [2001]: Bankruptcy prediction for credit risk using neural networks: A survey and new results. IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks, Vol. 12. No. 4. pp. 929-935.

Banerjee, A. J., Besley, T. and Guinnane, T. W. [1994]: The Neighbor's Keeper: The Design of a Credit Cooperative with Theory ad a Test. Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. 109, no.2. pp 491-515.

Bartlett, W. and Bukvic, V. [2001]: Barriers to SME Growth in Slovenia. <u>MOCT-MOST:</u> <u>Economic Policy in Transitional Economies</u>. Vol. 11, No. 2. pp. 177-195.

Beaver, W. H. [1966]: Financial Ratios as Predictors of Failures. Empirical Research in Accounting, Selected Studies, Vol. 4. pp. 71-111.

Benedek, G. [2000–2001]: Evolúciós alkalmazások előrejelzési modellekben, I–II. Közgazdasági Szemle, Vol. 47. No. 12. pp. 988–1007. and Vol. 48. No. 1. pp. 18–30.

Berlinger, E. [2003]: Jövedelemarányos visszafizetésen alapuló hallgatói hitelrendszerek,. Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem, PhD disszertáció

Besley and Coate [1995] : Group lending, repayment incentives and social collateral. Journal of Development Economics vol. 46 no. 1., pp. 1–18.

Bond, P. [2004]: Joint liability among bank borrowers. Economic Theory, Vol. 23. No. 2. pp. 383-394.

Carling, K., Jacobson, T., Lindé, J. and Roszbach, K. [2007]: Corporate credit risk modeling and the macroeconomy. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 31. No. 3. pp. 845-868.

Chowdhury, P. R. [2005]: Group-lending: Sequential financing, lender monitoring and joint liability. Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 77, No. 2, pp. 415-439.

Chowdhury, P. R. [2006]: Group-lending with sequential financing, contingent renewal and social capital. Journal of Development Economics 84 [2007] 487–506

Coleman, J. S. [1988]: Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital. The American Journal of Sociology, vol. 94, no. 1. pp. S95-S120.

Crouhy, M., Galai, D. and Mark, R. [2000]: A comparative analysis of current credit risk models. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 24. No. 1-2. pp. 59-117.

Crouhy, M., Galai, D. and Mark, R. [2005] : The Essentials of Risk Management. The McGraw-Hill Companies.

Diamond, D. W. [1984]: Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring. Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 51. No. 3. pp. 393–414.

Dietsch, M. and Petey, J. [2002]: The credit risk in SME loans portfolios: Modeling Issues, pricing, and capital requirements. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 26. No. 2-3. pp. 303–322.

Duffie, D. and Lando, D. [2001]: Term Structures of Credit Spreads with Incomplete Accounting Information. Econometrica, Vol. 69. No. 3. pp. 633–664.

Duffie, D. and Singleton, K.J. [1998]: Simulating correlation defaults. Bank of England Conference on Credit Risk Modeling and Regulatory Implications, London, September 21-22.

Duffie, D. and Singleton, K.J., [1999], Modeling term structures of defaultable bonds. Review of Financial Studies Vol. 12. No. 4. pp. 687-720.

Duffie, D. and Singleton, K. J. [2003]: Credit risk: pricing, measurement, and management. Princeton Series in Finance.

Dunford, C. [2006]: Evidence of Microfinance's Contribution to Achieving the Millennium Development Goals: Freedom from Hunger. Working paper. http://microfinancegateway.org/files/ 35795_file_Evidence_on_MDGs_Dunford.pdf downloaded 2008. May

Edmister, R. [1972]: An empirical test of financial ratio analysis for small business failure prediction. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Vol. 7. No. 2. pp. 1477-1493.

Emery, G.W [1984] A Pure Financial Explanation for Trade Credit. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Vol. 19. No. 3. pp. 271-285.

Falkenstein, E. G., Boral, A.and Carty, L. V. [2000]: RiskCalc for Private Companies: Moody's Default Model. Global Credit Research, May 2000. Downloaded: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=236011</u> 2011. April

Fedele, A. [2005]: Joint Liability Lending in Microcredit Markets with Adverse Selection: a Survey. <u>The Icfai University Journal of Bank Management</u> Vol. 5. No. 2. pp. 55-63

Field, E. and Pande, R. [2008]: Repayment Frequency and Default in Microfinance: Evidence from India. Journal of the European Economic Association, April–May 2008 6(2–3): pp. 501–509.

Frydman, H., Altman, E. I. and Kao, D. L. [1985]: Introducing recursive partioning for financial classification: The Case of financial distress. The Journal of Finance, Vol. 40. No. 1. pp. 269-291.

Fudenbeg, D. – Tirole, J. [1990]: Moral Hazard and Renegotiation in Agency Contracts, Econometrica, Econometric Society, Vol. 58. No. 6. 1279-1319. o. november.

Füstös, L – Kovács, E – Meszéna, Gy – Simonné Mosolygó, N [2004]: Alakfelismerés. (Sokváltozós statisztikai módszerek). Új Mandátum Könyvkiadó, Budapest

Gangopadhyay, S. and Lensink, R: [2001]: Joint Liability Lending: A Note. University of Groningen, Research Institute SOM (Systems, Organisations and Management) <u>Research</u> <u>Report</u> No. 01E09

Gangopadhyay, S. and Lensink, R. [2005]: Co-Signed Loans versus Joint Liability Lending in an Adverse Selection Model. Research Paper No: 09-05. Research Paper Series, Centre for Analytical Finance, Indian School of Business Ghatak, M. [1999]: Group lending, local information and peer selection. Journal of Development Economics. vol. 60_1999.27–50

Ghatak, M. [2000]: Screening by the Company You Keep: Joint Liability Lending and the Peer Selection Effect. <u>The Economic Journal</u>, Vol. 110, No. 465, pp. 601-631

Ghatak, M. and Guinanne, T. W. [1999]: The economics of lending with joint liability: theory and practice. Journal of Development Economics vol. 60_1999.195–228

Ghosh, P. and Van Tassel [2008b]: A Model of Mission Drift in Microfinance Institutions. Department of Economics, College of Business, Florida Atlantic University Working Paper No. 08003. Downloaded: <u>http://home.fau.edu/vantasse/web/MDDec11.pdf</u> 2009.August

Giné, X., Jakiela, P., Karlan, D. and Morduch, J. [2006]: Microfinance Games. Economic Growth Center, Yale University, Center Discussion Paper No. 936

Giné, X. and Karlan, D.S. [2006]: Group Versus Individual Liability: A Field Experiment in the Philippines. <u>World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4008</u>. Downloaded: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=931562</u> 2009. May

Goldmark, L. [2001]: Microenterprise development in Latin America: towards a new flexibility. Journal of Socio-Economics, vol. 30. pp. 145–149.

Gomez, R. and Santor, E. [2003]: Do Peer Group Members Outperform Individual Borrowers? A Test of Peer Group Lending Using Canadian Micro-Credit Data. Bank of Canada Working Paper No. 2003-33.

Grunerta, J., Norden, L. and Weber, M. [2005]: The role of non-financial factors in internal credit ratings. Journal of Banking & Finance

Hámori, G. [2001]: A fizetésképtelenség előrejelzése logit-modellel. Bankszemle, Vol. 45. No. 1-2. pp. 65-87.

Hart, O. – Moore, J. [1998]: Default And Renegotiation: A Dynamic Model Of Debt, The Quarterly Journal of Economics, MIT Press, Vol. 113 No. 1. 1-41. o. február

Hartarska, V. [2003]: Governance and performance of microfinance institutions in Central and Eastern Europe and the Newly Independent States. World Development Vol. 33, No. 10, pp.1627-1643

Hartarska, V., Caudill, S. B. and Gropper, D. M. [2006]: The cost structure of microfinance institutions in Eastern Europe and Central Asia.. William Davidson Institute Working Paper No. 809. Downloaded: <u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=905911</u> 2009. May

Hermes, N. and Lensink, R. [2007a]: Impact of Microfinance: A Critical Survey. Economic and Political Weekly, 2007. 10, October

Hermes, N. and Lensink, R. [2007b]: The empirics of microfinance: What do we know? The Economic Journal, Vol. 117 (Febr.), pp- F1–F10.

Hull, J. and White, A. [1995]: "The Impact of Default Risk on the Prices of Options and Other Derivative Securities". Journal of Banking and Finance, Vol. 19. pp. 299-322.

Hulme, D. and Mosley, P. [1996]: Finance Against Poverty, Routledge Vol. 1. In Ghatak and Guinnane [1999]

Iben, T. and Litterman, R. [1991]: Corporate bond valuation and the term structure of credit spreads. Journal of Portfolio Management, Vol. 17. No. 3. pp. 52-64.

Imre, B. [2008]: Bázel II definíciókon alapuló nemfizetés-előrejelzési modellek magyarországi vállalati mintán (2002-2006). PhD. doktori értekezés, Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Kar.

Jarrow, R. A. and Turnbull, S. M. [1995]: Pricing Derivatives on Financial Securities Subject to Credit Risk. The Journal of Finance, Vol. 50, No. 1. pp. 53-85.

Jarrow, R. A., Lando D. and Turnbull, S. M. [1997]: A Markov Model for the Term Structure of Credit Risk Spreads. The Review of Financial Studies, Vol. 10. No. 1. pp. 481-523.

Jorion, P. [1999]: A kockáztatott érték. Panem Kiadó. Budapest, p. 310

Karlan, D. S. [2004]: Social Capital and Group Banking. Bureau for Research in Economic Analysis of Development. BREAD Working Paper No. 062

Karlan, D. [2007]: Social Connections and Group Banking. <u>Economic Journal, Vol. 117, No. 517, pp. F52-F84</u>

Karlan, D. and Giné, X. [2007]: Group versus Individual Liability: A Field Experiment in the Philippines. Center for Global Development Working Paper No. 111

Kealhofer, S. [1996]: Measuring Default Risk in Portfolios of Derivatives. Mimeo KMV Corporation, San Francisco, CA. In: Altman and Saunders, [1997]

Kealhofer, S. [2003]: Quantifying credit risk I: Default prediction. Financial Analysts Journal, Vol. 59, No. 1. pp. 30-44.

Keasey, K. and Watson, R. [1987]. Non-financial symptoms and the prediction of small company failure: a test of Argenti's hypotheses. Journal of Business Finance Accounting, Vol. 14. No. 3. pp. 335-354. Cited by: Laitinen, E. K. and Laitinen, T. [2000]

Kevane, M. and Wydick, B. [2001]: Microenterprise Lending to Female Entrepreneurs: Sacrificing Economic Growth for Poverty Alleviation? <u>World Development, Vol. 29, No. 7</u>,

Kiss, F. [2003]: A credit scoring fejlődése és alkalmazása. PhD. doktori értekezés, Budapesti Műszaki Egyetem

Klujber Róbert [2006]: Az építőipari körbetartozás természetrajza. Építési Piac 2006. August - September. pp. 16-17.

Krahnen, J. P. and Weber, M. [2001]: Generally accepted rating principles: A primer. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 25. No. 1. pp 3-23.

Kristóf, T. [2005]: A csődelőrejelzés sokváltozós statisztikai módszerei és empirikus vizsgálata. Statisztikai Szemle, Vol. 83. No. 9. pp. 841-863.

Kristóf, T. [2008a]: A csődelőrejelzés és a nem fizetési valószínűség számításának módszertani kérdéseiről. Közgazdasági Szemle, Vol. 55. No. 5. pp. 441-461.

Kristóf, T. [2008b]: Gazdasági szervezetek fennmaradásának és fizetőképességének előrejelzése. PhD. doktori értekezés, Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem

Kritikos, A. S. and Vigenina, D. [2005]: Key factors of joint-liability loan contracts: an empirical analysis. Kyklos, Vol. 58. No. 2 pp. 213-238.

Kovács, E. [2006]: Pénzügyi adatok statisztikai elemzése. BCE Pénzügyi és Számviteli Intézet, Budapest

Lando, D. [2004]: Credit risk modeling: Theory and Application. Princeton Series in Finance.

Laitinen, E. K. and Laitinen, T. [2000]: Bankruptcy prediction Application of the Taylor's expansion in logistic regression. International Review of Financial Analysis, Vol. 9. No. 4. pp. 327-349.

Ledgerwood, Joanna [2000]: Microfinance Handbook: an Institutional and Financial Perspective. Washington DC: The World Bank, 2000. 1.

Lehmann, B. [2003]: Is It Worth the While? The Relevance of Qualitative Information in Credit Rating (April 17, 2003). EFMA 2003 Helinski Meetings. Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=410186 or doi:10.2139/ssrn.410186

Liao, H. H., Chen, T. K. and Chou, T. [2005]: Multi-period Corporate Short-term Credit Risk Assessment. A state-dependent stochastic liquidity balance model. Downloaded 2007. február http://www.fin.ntu.edu.tw/~liao/LB0627a.pdf

Lublóy, Á., Tóth, E: and Vermes, Á. [2008]: Csoportalapú hitelezési rendszerek. Hitelintézeti Szemle, Vol. 7. No. 4.

McIntosh, C.and Wydick, B. [2005]: Competition and Microfinance. Journal of Development Economics Vol. 78, No. 2 pp. 271-298.

McNeil, A. J., Frey, R. and Embrechts, P. [2005]: Quantitative Risk Management: concepts, techniques, and tools. Princeton University Press.

Merton, R. C. [1974]: <u>On the Pricing of Corporate Debt: The Risk Structure of Interest Rates</u>. The Journal of Finance, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 449-470.

Morduch, J. [1999]: The Microfinance Promise. Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 38. pp.1569-1614.

Odom, M.D. - Sharda, R. [1990]: A Neural Network Model for Bankruptcy Prediction. IJCNN International Joint Conference on Neural Networks, Vol. 2, San Diego, CA, 1990. pp. 163-167.

Ohlson, J.A. [1980]: Financial Ratios and the Probabilistic Prediction of Bankruptcy. Journal of Accounting Research, Vol. 18, No. 1. pp. 109-131.

Oravecz, B. [2007]: Credit scoring modellek és teljesítményük értékelése. Hitelintézeti Szemle. Vol. 6. No. 6. pp. 607-627.

Oravecz, B. [2008]: A szelekciós torzítás és csökkentése az adósminősítési modelleknél. PhD. doktori értekezés, Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem

Papp, G. [2008]: A kis- és közepes vállalkozások üzleti helyzete és tartozásai. GVI kutatás. Downloaded: <u>http://www.gvi.hu/data/research/kkv_korkep_073_070914.pdf</u> 2008. január

Peterson, M. A. and Rajan, R. [1997]: Trade credit: Theories and evidence. <u>Review of Financial Studies</u>, Vol. 10. No. 3. pp. 661-691.

Platt, H. D. and Platt, M. B. [1990]: Development of a Class of Stable Predictive Variables: The Case of Bankruptcy Prediction. Journal of Business Finance and Accounting, Vol. 17. No. 1. pp. 31-44.

Rajan, R.G. [1992]: Insider and Outsider: the Choice between Informed and Arm's Length Debt, Journal of Finance, 47. 1367-400. o.

Rosenberg, R. [2007]: CGAP reflections on the Compartamos initial public offerning: A case study on microfinance interest rates and profits. CGAP FocusNote No. 42. JUNE 2007

Rosenberg, R., Gonzalez, A. and Narain, S. [2009]:The New Moneylenders: Are the Poor Being Exploited by High Microcredit Interest Rates? CGAP, Occasional Paper No. 15 Downloaded: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=1400291</u> 2009. July

Ross, A. and Savanti, P. [2005]: Empirical Analysis of the Mechanisms of Group Lending. Centre for Micro Finance Research, Working Paper Series

Sadoulet, L. [1999]: Equilibrium Risk-Matching in Group Lending. Econometric SocietyWorldCongress2000, PaperNo.1302.Downloaded:http://fmwww.bc.edu/RePEc/es2000/1302.pdf2009. May

Sadoulet, L. [2002]: Incorporating Insurance Provisions in Microfinance Contracts. Learning from Visa®? World Institute for Development Economics Research WIDER Discussion Paper No. 2002/56.

Sadoulet, L. and Carpenter, S. B. [2001]: Endogenous Matching and Risk Heterogeneity: Evidence on microcredit group formation in Guatemala. Working paper. Letölve: http://www.wdi.umich.edu/files/old/CEDS%20papers/seth.pdf 2009. május

Sajtos, L., Mitev, A., Puszta, L. and Juhász, P. [2007]: SPSS kutatási és adatelemzési kézikönyv. Alinea Kiadó, Budapest

Sengupta and Aubuchon [2008]: The Microfinance Revolution: An Overview. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review, January/February 2008, 90(1), pp. 9-30.

Sharma, M. and Zeller, M. [1997]: Repayment Performance in Group-Based Credit Programs in Bangladesh: An Empirical Analysis. World Development, Vol. 25, No. 10, pp. 1731-1742

Sinha, S. [2003]: Financial Services for Low Income Families: An Appraisal. Indian Institute of Management Bangalore, IIMB Management Review, June 2003. Downloaded:

http://66.102.1.104/scholar?q=cache:JimBgVey3hIJ:scholar.google.com/&hl=hu 2009. September

Stiglitz, J. [1990]: Peer monitoring and credit markets. World Bank Economic Review, Vol. 4. No. 3. pp. 351–366.

van Tassel, E. [1999]: Group Lending under Asymmetric Information. Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 60. No.1. pp. 3-25.

Tirole, J. [2005]: The Theory of Corporate Finance. Princeton University Press

Tseng-Chung Tang and Li-Chiu Chi [2005]: Predicting multilateral trade credit risks: comparisons of Logit and Fuzzy Logic models using ROC curve analysis. Expert Systems with Applications, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 547-556.

Udell, G. F. [2004]: SME lending: defining the issues in a global perspective. Indiana University working paper

Varian, H., [1990]: Monitoring agents with other agents. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics 146 _1., pp. 153–174.

Vasicek, O. [1987]: Probability of loss on loan portfolio. KMV Corporation. Downloaded: http://www.moodyskmv.com 2011. április

Vigenina, D. and Kritikos, A. S. [2004]: The individual micro-lending contract: is it a better design than joint-liability? – Evidence from Georgia. <u>Economic Systems</u>, <u>Vol. 28. No. 2</u>, pp. 155-176.

Virág, M. [2004]: A csődmodellek jellegzetességei és története, Vezetéstudomány, Vol. 35. No. 10. pp. 24-32.

Virág, M. and Hajdu, O. [1993]: Pénzügyi viszonyszámokon alapuló vállalatminősités többváltozós statisztikai módszerek felhasználásával. Ipar-Gazdaság, 1993. 7 sz. pp. 23-32.

Virág, M. and Hajdu, O. [1996]: Pénzügyi mutatószámokon alapuló csődmodellszámítások. Bankszemle, Vol. 15. No. 5. pp. 42-53.

Virág, M. and Hajdu, O. [1998]: Pénzügyi viszonyszámok és a csődelőrejelzés. Bankról, pénzről, tőzsdéről. Válogatott előadasok a Bankárképzőben 1988-1998. Budapest, 1998. 440-457. old. Cited by: Virág, M. [2004]

Virág, M. and Kristóf, T. [2005]: Az első hazai csődmodell újraszámítása neurális hálók segítségével. Közgazdasági Szemle, Vol. 52. No. 2. pp. 144-162.

Virág, M. and Kristóf, T. [2006]: Iparági rátákon alapuló csődelőrejelzés sokváltozós statisztikai módszerekkel. Vezetéstudomány, Vol. XXXVII. No. 1. pp. 25-35.

Virág, M. and Kristóf, T. [2009]: <u>Többdimenziós skálázás a csődmodellezésben</u>. Vezetéstudomány Vol. 40. No. 1. pp. 50-58.

Wydick, B. [1999]: Can Social Cohesion be Harnessed to Repair Market Failures? Evidence from Group Lending in Guatemala. The Economic Journal, Vol. 109, No. 457, pp. 463-475

Wydick, B. [2001]: Group Lending under Dynamic Incentives as a Borrower Discipline Device. Review of Development Economics, Vol. 5. No. 3. pp. 406-420.

Yunus, M. [2007]: "What Is Microcredit?" Grameen Bank, September 2007; www.grameeninfo.org/bank/WhatIsMicrocredit.htm. In: Sengupta and Aubuchon [2008]

5. List of publications

Publications in refereed journals:

Szűcs, N., Havran, D. and Csóka, P. [2010]: Információs paradoxon a vállalkozások hitelezésében nem fizető vevő esetén. Közgazdasági Szemle, Vol. LVII. No. 4. pp. 318–336.

Szűcs, N. [2010]: A csoportos hitelezés modelljei: az együttes felelősségen innen és túl, Hitelintézeti Szemle Vol. 9. No. 1. pp 43-58.

Szűcs, N. [2010]: A csoportos hitelezés empirikus tapasztalatai és tesztjei, Hitelintézeti Szemle Vol. 9. No. 3. pp. 249-266.

Szűcs, N. [2008]: Lánctartozás a kereskedelmi hitelezés irodalmának tükrében. Hitelintézeti Szemle, Vol. 7. No. 4. pp. 399 – 417.

Conference proceedings:

Szűcs, N. [2009]: A nem fizető vevő hatása a hitel felvételre. Spring Wind PhD student conference, Szeged. May, 21-24, 2009.

Szűcs, N. [2009]: The effect of delayed collection of receivables on the borrowing capacity of entrepreneurs. 5th Annual International Bata Conference for PhD Students and Young Researchers, Zlin, Czech Republic. April 2. 2009.

Szűcs, N. [2008]: A vevői késedelem hatása a vállalkozók hitelképességére. KÜLÖNDÍJ az I. Országos Gazdasági és Pénzügy Matematikai PhD Konferencián. Octobre 20, 2008.

Szűcs, N. [2008]: A lánctartozás természetrajza. Spring Wind PhD student conference, Budapest. 2008.

Working paper:

Szűcs, N. [2008]: A lánctartozás a magyar vállalkozások körében. In: Szirmai, Péter - Szerb, L. - Madarassy, T. - Petheő, A. (2008): Az "Üzletre hangolva" program 2008-as intézkedési tervének megalapozása a vállalkozói vélemények összegyűjtésével. 79-96.